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Plaintiff has brought this action for racial discrimnationin
enpl oynment pursuant to 42 U S C 8§ 1981 against his forner
enpl oyer, Philadelphia Gas Wrks (“PGW). Before the Court is
Defendant’s Mdtion for Sunmary Judgnent. For the reasons which
foll ow, Defendant’s Mdtion is granted.

l. BACKGROUND

Plaintiff, who is Hi spanic, began working for PGWas a | aborer
in 1984. (Conpl. 9 8.) He was injured on Novenber 8, 1999 and
wor ked on light duty jobs until he was fired on February 4, 2002.
(Compl. 1 9.) He clains that he has been subject to disparate
treatment and harassnent because of his race since his injury,
culmnating in his termnation in February 2002.* Plaintiff clains
that he was treated differently than simlarly situated white
enpl oyees as foll ows: 1) he was harassed in connection wth
requests for his nmedical records follow ng his placenent on |ight

duty; 2) he was subjected to investigations of his residency; 3)

Al though Plaintiff clainms to have been subject to racial
harassnent, he asserts only a di sparate treatnent cl ai magai nst PGV
in this lawsuit.



his claimfor workers’ conpensati on benefits was denied; 4) he was
termnated for sick leave fraud; 5) he was not notified of his
termnation within 20 worki ng days as required by PGN's col |l ective
bargai ning agreenment with his wunion; and 6) he was refused
reinstatenent after his term nation.

A Request for Medical Records

Plaintiff alleges that he was treated differently than ot her,
white, enployees because PGW harassed him with respect to the
provi sion of updated nedical records supporting his light duty
status. PGW has an Enployee Utilization Conmttee (“EUC’) which
reviews the work status of enpl oyees who are absent for nore than
30 days, tenporarily disabled, and on long-termlight duty. (Lews
Dep. at 29-31; Stewart Dep. at 33-34.) The EUC is conprised of
PGWs Medical Director, Vice-President of Labor and Business,
Director of Labor, Director of R sk Managenent, Director of Safety,
and Director of EEO and Affirmative Action. (Lewis Dep. at 33,
Stewart Dep. at 31.) PGWs Mdical Director notifies the EUC when
a particular enployee’'s nedical records are not current. (ld. at
36-39.) When the Medical Director informs the EUC that an
enpl oyee’ s nedi cal records are not current, the EUC has t he manager
or director of the enployee’'s unit send the enployee a letter
requesting that he or she provide the nedical departnment wth
updated nedical information. (ld. at 41.) |If the enployee does

not provide the requested information, the EUC may direct his or



her department manager to wite a letter to the enployee stating
that, if he or she does not provide nedical information by a
specific date it will result in term nation. (Id. at 45.) PGV
does not have a witten policy to that effect, however, the EUC
Wil threaten termnation if the enployee had not provided
i nformati on when previously requested and i s not cooperating. (ld.
at 45, 47.) The manager or director of the unit has input into
what the letter requesting nedical information says. (ld. at 48.)
PGW mai ntains that these letters are sent at the direction of the
EUC to “PGW enpl oyees regardless of their race, color, nationa
origin, age or sex. As such, these letters are sent to white
enpl oyees in addition to black enpl oyees and Hi spani ¢ enpl oyees.”
(Stewart Aff. § 7.) The record before the Court indicates that,
over the past three years, the EUC has directed that these letters
be sent to twenty-five (25) white enpl oyees, thirty-one (31) bl ack
enpl oyees and seven (7) Hi spanic enployees. (ld. at T 3.)

On Septenber 28, 2001, Robert Barlow, MD., PGWs Medical
Director, sent Plaintiff aletter by certified mail to his address
at 4961 Wi t aker Avenue in Phil adel phia, inform ng hi mthat PGWhad
asked his physician to provide updated information with respect to
the extent of his injury and asking Plaintiff to provide that
i nformati on by October 12, 2001. (Pl.’s Ex. 4.) Plaintiff did not
receive the letter and his doctor did not provide the requested

i nformati on. On Qctober 17, 2001, Joseph Sullivan, Plaintiff’s



supervisor, had a copy of the letter hand delivered to Plaintiff
and spoke about it wth him on the tel ephone. (Pl.”s Ex. 5.)
Sullivan wote to Plaintiff on Decenber 14, 2001, asking himto
provide the nmedical information requested in the previous letter,
whi ch had not been provided, and notified himthat “[f]ailure to
provide this information by Decenber 28, 2001 will result in your
term nation of enploynent fromPGN” (Pl.’s Ex. 6.) On Decenber
18, 2001, Plaintiff resubmtted information to the Medical
Depart ment which he had previously provided in May 2001. (Pl.’s
Ex. 9.) Sullivan sent Plaintiff another letter on Decenber 18,
2001, asking him to conply with the Decenber 14, 2001 letter
requesting updated nedical information. (1d.) The Decenber 18,
2001 letter repeated the statenent that “[f]ailure to provide this
i nformati on by Decenber 28, 2001 will result in your term nation of
enpl oynent from PGWN” (1d.) The EUC subsequently extended the
deadline for provision of this information until January 7, 2002.
(PI."s Ex. 10.)

B. | nvestigation of Plaintiff’'s Residency

Plaintiff nmaintains that he was discrimnated against and
harassed by PGWin connection with his residency. PGWhas had a
policy since 1983 that all union enployees hired after that date
must reside in the City of Philadel phia. (Sullivan Aff. § 3.)
Plaintiff mintains that he has resided continuously in

Phi | adel phi a. PGW began an investigation into Plaintiff’'s



resi dency on Cctober 17, 2001, after he told Sullivan that he had
not received the first letter requesting nedical docunentation
al though he still lived at 4961 \Witaker Avenue in Phil adel phia.
(Pl.”s Ex. 13 at 1.) Sullivan was suspicious that Plaintiff was
not being truthful and checked the gas account for that address.
(Ld.) Sullivan discovered that the gas account for 4961 Wit aker
Avenue had not been in Plaintiff’s nanme since Septenber 3, 1999.
(Id.) A bert DAttilio, Drector of Labor Relations, Safety and
Security for PGWN then requested a residency investigation of
Plaintiff. (lLd. at 2.) Two resulting investigations did not turn
up any evidence that Plaintiff resided outside of Philadel phia.
(Pl."s Exs. 12, 14.)

In late 2001, Jane Lewis, PGNs Director of R sk Managenent,
who was reviewi ng Plaintiff’s pending worker’s conpensation claim
was told by a PGW enployee that Plaintiff had taken a job at
Today’s Man in Cherry Hll, New Jersey. (Lewws Aff. 91 3-4.)
Lew s instructed outside counsel to subpoena Val entin’s enpl oynent
records from Today’ s Man. (ILd. ¢ 4.) In Novenber 2001, in
response to the subpoena, she received a copy of Plaintiff’s
enpl oynent application with Today’s Man and a copy of the Federal
W4 formthat Plaintiff filed wwth Today’s Man. (lLd. § 5.) These
docunents both show that Plaintiff’s address is in Bl ackwood, New
Jersey. (Id., Exs. 1 & 2.) Lewis provided those docunents to

Sullivan on January 29, 2002, as well as the results of



surveil |l ance perfornmed by Wes Davi s Detective Agency on January 25-
26, 2002. (Sullivan Aff. § 4, Sullivan Dep. at 110.) The
i nvestigator for Wes Davis Detective Agency followed Plaintiff to
an apartnment on Wodhaven Road in Philadelphia. (Pl.’s Ex. 16.)
Sul l'ivan questioned Plaintiff about his residency on January 29,
2002, Plaintiff stated that he did not live in New Jersey.
(Sullivan Aff. 1 7.)

C. Denial of Plaintiff's Wrker’'s Conpensation Benefits

Plaintiff clains that after August 13, 2000, when he returned
to work from his shoulder injury, PGWN refused to pay for his
physi cal therapy or ongoing doctor treatnents. Plaintiff also
claims that PGWused his failure to continue physical therapy to
contest the permanency of his disability. Plaintiff’s worker’s
conpensati on case was eventually settled and he was paid for sone
[imted periods of benefits. (Lews Dep. at 42.)

D. Plaintiff's Term nation for Sick Leave Fraud

PGWfired Plaintiff for working for another enployer on the
sanme day he called in sick to PGWand recei ved sick | eave pay from
PGW2 (Sullivan Dep. at 20-21.) Lew s discovered the facts which
formed the basis of Plaintiff’s term nation during her review of

Plaintiff’s enpl oynent records fromToday’s Man. PGW s counsel on

2Plaintiff does not claimthat the letters sent by Sullivan to
Plaintiff demanding updated nedi cal docunentation or the
investigations into his residency resulted in his termnation from
PGW



Plaintiff’s workers’ conpensation case sent those work records to
Lew s on January 8, 2002. (Lewis Aff. 9 8.) Those records showed
the dates and nunbers of hours Plaintiff worked at Today’' s Mn.
(Id., Ex. 4.) Lewws reviewed the records a few days after
receiving them and conpared themwth Plaintiff’s PGV attendance
records. (ld. § 5.) The Today’'s Man records showed that Plaintiff
worked at Today’s Man on three days he was out sick from PGW
Septenber 30, 2000 and May 1 and 2, 2001. (Lewi s Dep. at 46-47.)
At the time of Plaintiff’'s termnation, PGNdid not have a witten
policy specifically prohibiting enployees fromworking for anot her
enpl oyer on a day they are off sick and collecting sick pay from
PGW (Sullivan Dep. at 21, 25.) Lew s believed, however, from her
experience in another case, that PGNconsi dered this conduct to be
a violation of a work rule. (Lewis Dep. at 46-48.) Lews sent a
menmo to Sullivan on January 29, 2002, stating what she had
di scovered. (Lewis Aff. § 6.)

Sullivan net with Plaintiff and two union representatives on
January 29, 2002 and asked Plaintiff if he could explain why the
Today’s Man enploynent records showed that he had been working
there while he was off sick from PGW (Sullivan Aff. § 7.)
Plaintiff said that he could not. (lLd.) Sullivan then suspended
Plaintiff with intent to termnate for fraudulently calling out
sick at PGW while he was working at Today' s Man. (ILd. 1 8.)

Sullivan then reconmmended to D Attiliothat Plaintiff be term nated



for sick leave fraud. (ld. 1 9.)

D Attilio determned that Plaintiff had violated PGNs “sick
| eave policy by working at another position on days when he had
taken of f sick and received sick pay” and decided to term nate him
(D Attilio Aff. 11 9-10.) D Attilio has been enpl oyed by PGNsi nce
March, 1999 and, during his tenure at PGWN it has been PGWNs
uniformy enforced “policy to term nate enployees who are found
wor ki ng at another job on the sane day that they had taken sick
| eave and collected sick pay.” (D Attilio Aff. 91 5-6.) He is
aware of five other “cases where individuals were found to have
vi ol ated PGN's work rul es by worki ng at anot her job on the sane day
that they had taken off sick and collected sick pay. In every
case, PGWterm nated the enpl oyees who violated this work rule.”
(Ld. ¥ 11.) In two of these cases the enployee was Hi spanic
(Plaintiff and his brother Edgardo Valentin), in tw cases the
enpl oyees were black and in two cases the enployees were white.
(Ld. ¥ 11.)

Plaintiff admtted in his deposition that he was working at
Today’s Man on two of the days he had taken off sick fromhis job
at PGWand col l ected sick pay. (Valentin Dep. at 328-29.)

E. The Twenty Day Rul e

Plaintiff claims that PGWviolated its Coll ective Bargaining
Agreenment with his union, Local 686, by firing himin violation of

the 20 day rule. According to the Collective Bargai ni ng Agreenent,



“I'a]ll discipline shall be inposed within twenty (20) working days
of the alleged m sconduct, or the Conpany’ s know edge thereof.”
(Pl.”s Ex. 28 at 9.) PGWreceived the payroll information from
Today’ s Man on January 8, 2002. The 20t h worki ng day after January
8, 2002 was February 6, 2002. PGW sent a termnation letter to
Plaintiff at his 4961 Whitaker Avenue, Philadel phia address on
February 4, 2002. (Def.’s Ex. H) Plaintiff clains that he did
not receive that letter, but a copy was hand delivered to him on
February 19, 2002 by a union representative. (Pl.’s Mem at 15.)
PGW has di sci plined other enpl oyees after the twenty day period in
two instances, both of the disciplined enpl oyees are white nen.
(D Attilio AfFf. T 13.)

F. Post Termi nation Discrimnmnation

Plaintiff alleges that PGW discrim nated agai nst him by not
rehiring him after he was termnated for sick |eave fraud.
Plaintiff has submtted evidence that two enpl oyees who had been
term nated by PGV for sick |leave fraud were reinstated foll ow ng
arbitration after Plaintiff filed this lawsuit. (Pl.’s Exs. 27,
28.) One of those individuals, Edgardo Valentin, Plaintiff’s
brother, is H spanic. The other individual, Stephanie Burgess, is
an African-Anerican female. Edgardo Valentin was rehired after an
arbitrator found, on Novenber 5, 2003, that he was on vacation from
PGW and not on sick |eave, at the tinme he was found to have been

wor ki ng at his second job. (Pl.’s Ex. 27 at 14.) The arbitrator



inthe case of Ms. Stephani e Burgess found, on April 21, 2003, that
her conduct, in working a second job outside of her normal PGW
wor ki ng hours, while on sick | eave fromPGWN was not fundanentally
di shonest. (Pl.”s Ex. 26 at 9.) The arbitrator noted that M.
Burgess had provided PGW with a doctor’s note “canvassing her
medi cal history of work induced stress, revealing her treatnent
regi men, and expl ai ning how she was able to work a second job at
Strawbridges while she was out of work fromPGWN” (Pl.’ s Ex. 26 at
10.)
1. STANDARD FOR SUMVARY JUDGVENT

Summary  j udgnent is appropriate “if the pl eadi ngs,
depositions, answers to interrogatories, and adm ssions on file,
together with affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine
issue as to any material fact and that the noving party is entitled
to judgnent as a matter of law” Fed. R Cv. P. 56(c). An issue
is “genuine” if the evidence is such that a reasonable jury could

return a verdict for the non-noving party. Anderson v. Liberty

Lobby, Inc., 477 U S. 242, 248 (1986). A factual dispute is

“material” if it mght affect the outconme of the case under
governing law. 1d.

A party seeking summary judgnent always bears the initia
responsibility for informng the district court of the basis for
its nmotion and identifying those portions of the record that it

bel i eves denonstrate the absence of a genuine issue of materia

10



fact. Celotex Corp. v. Catrett, 477 U. S. 317, 322 (1986). \Were

the non-noving party bears the burden of proof on a particular
issue at trial, the novant’'s initial Celotex burden can be net
sinply by “pointing out to the district court that there is an
absence of evidence to support the non-noving party’'s case.” 1d.
at 325. After the noving party has nmet its initial burden, “the
adverse party’ s response, by affidavits or otherw se as provided in
this rule, nust set forth specific facts showing that there is a
genui ne issue for trial.” Fed. R Cv. P. 56(e). That is, sunmary
judgnent is appropriate if the non-noving party fails to rebut by
maki ng a factual showi ng “sufficient to establish the existence of
an el enent essential to that party’'s case, and on which that party
w || bear the burden of proof at trial.” Celotex, 477 U.S. at 322.
“Specul ation, conclusory allegations, and nere denials are
insufficient to rai se genuine i ssues of material fact.” Boykins v.

Lucent Technol ogies, Inc., 78 F. Supp. 2d 402, 407 (E. D. Pa. 2000).

| ndeed, evidence introduced to defeat or support a notion for
summary judgnment mnust be capable of being adm ssible at trial

Callahan v. AEV, Inc., 182 F. 3d 237, 252 n. 11 (3d Gr. 1999)(citing

Petruzzi's | GA Supermarkets, Inc. v. Darling-Del aware Co., 998 F. 2d

1224, 1234 n. 9 (3d Gr. 1993)).
[11. DI SCUSSI ON
Plaintiff asserts his claimfor discrimnation pursuant to 42

US C 8§ 1981. Section 1981(a) provides that:

11



Al persons within the jurisdiction of the
United States shall have the sane right in
every State and Territory to make and enforce
contracts, to sue, be parties, give evidence,
and to the full and equal benefit of all |aws
and proceedings for the security of persons
and property as is enjoyed by white citizens,
and shall be subject to |ike punishment,
pai ns, penal ti es, t axes, i censes, and
exactions of every kind, and to no other.

42 U.S.C. § 1981(a) (1994). PGW argues that Plaintiff’'s clainms
nmust be di sm ssed because Plaintiff cannot bring a direct action
against a municipality pursuant to Section 1981 and that, if
Plaintiff can bring an acti on agai nst PGV pursuant to Section 1981,
there is no evidence to support a cause of action pursuant to

Monel | v. Departnent of Social Services, 436 U S. 658 (1978).3

A. Section 1981 Actions Against a Minicipal Agency

PGW*“is not, itself, an identifiable entity,” PGNis “nerely
a collective nane for the real and personal property used to

furni sh gas service to custonmers within the City.” Hendrickson v.

Phi | adel phia Gas Wrks, 672 F. Supp. 823, 825 (E.D. Pa. 1987)

(citing Dawes v. Phil adel phia Gas Conmi ssion, et al., 421 F. Supp.

3Def endant al so contends that Plaintiff cannot bring an action
for race discrimnation pursuant to 42 U.S.C. 8§ 1981 because he is
Hi spani c. The Court finds that an Hispanic person can bring a
cause of action for race discrimnation pursuant to Section 1981.
See Rodriguez v. Anerican Parts System Cv. A No. 86-3904, 1986
W. 13034, at *3 (E.D. Pa. Nov. 19, 1986) (determning that “an
al l egation of discrimnation based upon Puerto Rican background
states a cause of action for racial discrimnation under 42 U S. C
§ 1981."); see also Al-Khazraji v. Saint Francis College, 784 F.2d
505, 517-18 (3d Cr. 1986) (concluding that a person of Arab
background could state a claim for racial discrimnation under
Section 1981).

12



806, 811 (E.D. Pa. 1976)). PGWs general operations are overseen
by the Phil adel phia Gas Comm ssion, which “is an operating arm of

the Gty of Phil adel phia responsible for the setting of rates and

operating regul ati ons by reason of Article Ill, 88 3-100 and 3-309
of the City's Home Rule Charter.” 1d. (citing Dawes, 421 F. Supp.
at 815). The Phil adel phia Facilities Managenent Corporation

manages PGW for the "sole and exclusive benefit" of the Cty
pursuant to municipal ordinance. 1d. (citing Dawes, 421 F. Supp
at 815). PGWis, therefore, considered to be a nunicipal agency
““synonynmous with the Gty of Philadelphia for purposes of the

civil rights statutes.” Sanders v. Philadelphia Gas Wrks, No.

Gv. A 98-6271, 1999 W 482394, at *1 (E.D. Pa. July 2, 1999)

(citing Hendrickson, 672 F. Supp. at 825).

PGW argues that Plaintiff cannot bring a viable cause of
action against it pursuant to Section 1981 because 42 U.S.C. 8§ 1983
is the exclusive renedy for allegations of discrimnation against

a nmuni ci pal agency. Defendant relies on Jett v. Dall as | ndependent

School District, 491 U S. 701 (1989), in which the Suprene Court

hel d that Section 1983 provides the exclusive federal renmedy for
viol ations of Section 1981 by a state actor:

W hold that the express "action at |[|aw
provi ded by 8§ 1983 for the "deprivation of any
rights, privileges, or imunities secured by
the Constitution and Ilaws,"” provides the
exclusive federal damages renmedy for the
violation of the rights guaranteed by § 1981
when the claim is pressed against a state
actor. Thus to prevail on his claim for

13



damages agai nst t he school district,
petitioner nust showthat the violation of his
"right to nmake contracts" protected by § 1981
was caused by a custom or policy within the
meani ng of Monell and subsequent cases.

ld. at 735.

The Court recognizes that “there is di sagreenent anong ot her
circuits, as well as within the Eastern District of Pennsylvani a”
regardi ng whether the 1991 anendnents to the Gvil Rights Act,
whi ch added subsection (c) to Section 1981, created an i ndependent
cause of action, thereby abrogating the holding in Jett that

Section 1983 provides the only renedy for violations of Section

1981 by state actors. Jacobs v. Cty of Philadel phia, No. Cv. A

03- 950, 2004 W 241507, at * 4 (E.D. Pa. Jan 29, 2004) (noting that
Section 1983 remai ns the excl usive renmedy for viol ati ons of Section
1981 by a nunicipality). Subsection (c) provides that “[t]he
rights protected by this section are protected agai nst inpairnent
by nongovernnental discrimnation and inpairnment under color of
State law.” 42 U.S.C. 8§ 1981(c). There is nothing in the
| egi slative history of the 1991 anendnents which indicate that
Congress intended to overrule Jett and establish an i ndependent
cause of action against state actors pursuant to Section 1981. See

Mles v. Gty of Phil adel phia, No. Cv. A 98-5837, 1999 W. 274979,

at *5 (E.D. Pa. May 5, 1999) (“The legislative history of the 1991
amendnents shows that 8§ 1981(c) was intended only to codify

exi sting case law. There is no indication that Congress intended to

14



nullify Jett and to create a new civil cause of action.”)
(citations omtted). This Court addressed this issue in Poli V.
SEPTA, No. Civ. A 96-6766, 1998 W. 405052 (E.D. Pa. July 7, 1998),
and found that the 1991 anmendnents to the Cvil R ghts Act did not
overrule Jett:

The Court of Appeals for the Ninth Crcuit
("Ninth Crcuit") has held that the G vil
Ri ghts Act of 1991 creates an inplied cause of
action against state actors under section
1981, and thus statutorily overrules Jett's
holding that section 1983 provides the
excl usive feder al remedy agai nst
muni ci palities for violation of the «civil
ri ghts guaranteed by section 1981. Federation
of African Anerican Contractors v. Cty of
Qakl and, 96 F.3d 1204, 1214 (9th Cr. 1996).
In contrast, the Courts of Appeals for the
Fourth and Eleventh Crcuits have held that
section 1983 <continues as the exclusive
federal renedy for rights guaranteed in
section 1981 by state actors. Dennis v.
County of Fairfax, 55 F.3d 151, 156 (4th G
1995); Johnson v. Gty of Fort Lauderdale, 903
F. Supp. 1520 (S.D. Fla. 1995), aff'd 114 F. 3d
1089 (11th Gr. 1997).

In keeping with the reasoning of Dennis and
Johnson, the Court finds that the 1991
Amendnents do not abrogate the hol dings of
Jett, that section 1983 is the exclusive
remedy for section 1981 clains against
muni ci pal entities, and that direct «clains
under section 1981 cannot be brought agai nst
muni ci pal entities.

ld. at *11-12 (footnotes omtted). Al though the United States
Court of Appeals for the Third Grcuit (“Third Grcuit”) has not
addressed this issue explicitly, it recently reiterated the

holding, in Jett, that Section 1983 provides the renedy for

15



violations of Section 1981 by a state actor:

The Court has ruled "that the express action
at | aw provided by 8§ 1983 for the deprivation
of any rights, privileges, or inmmunities
secured by the Constitution and | aws, provides
the excl usive federal damages renedy for the
violation of the rights guaranteed by § 1981
when the claim is pressed against a state
actor. . . . Thus to prevail in his claimfor
damages [against a state actor], [a clai mant]
nmust show that the violation of his right to
make contracts protected by 8 1981 was caused
by a custom or policy within the neaning of
Monel I and subsequent cases."”

GCaks v. City of Philadelphia, 59 Fed. Appx. 502, 503 (2003)

(citing Jett, 491 U S. at 735-36).

Plaintiff suggests that sonme courts have permtted Section
1981 «clains to proceed against municipal actors if the
requi renents for bringing a Section 1983 acti on agai nst mnuni ci pal

actors set forth in Mnell are satisfied. | ndeed, Mles v. City

of Phil adel phia, No. Cv. A 98-5837, 1999 W. 274979 (E.D. Pa. My

5, 1999), found that the 1991 anendnents did not overrule the
ruling in Jett that Section 1983 provides the excl usive renedy for
violations of Section 1981 by state actors and, consequently,
treated plaintiff’'s Section 1981 claimas nerged into his Section

1983 claim [d. at * 5. That approach was followed in Jacobs v.

Cty of Philadel phia, No. Gv. A 03-950, 2004 W. 241507 (E.D. Pa.
Jan 29, 2004), which simlarly treated plaintiff’s Section 1981
claim as being nerged into his Section 1983 claim ld. at *4

(“This Court will follow the approach taken by the Third G rcuit

16



in GCaks and Judge Waldman in Mles. Accordingly, Plaintiff's §

1981 will not be dism ssed, but will be treated as nerged into his
§ 1983 claim”).

The Court finds, for the reasons set forth in Poli, MIles,

Jacobs, and Oaks, that Section 1983 remains the exclusive renedy
for violations of Section 1981 by a state actor. Plaintiff
mai ntains that the requirenents of Section 1983 are satisfied in
this case and that he could, if need be, anend his Conpl aint
accordi ngly. Rat her than further delay this Ilitigation by
requiring Plaintiff to anmend the Conplaint to restate his claim
pursuant to Section 1983, the Court wll followthe approach taken
in Mles and Jacobs by treating Plaintiff’s claimas if it had
been brought pursuant to Section 1983. Consequently, Defendant’s
Motion is denied wth respect to Defendant’s argunent that
Plaintiff cannot bring an action against PGW pursuant to Section
1981. However, Plaintiff’s claimcannot survive summary judgnent
unl ess he can establish, in accordance with the requirenents for
a claim brought pursuant to Section 1983, that the race
di scrim nation he conplains of “was caused by a customor policy

within the neaning of Mnell.” Qaks, 59 Fed. App. at 5083.

B. Monel
PGWargues that, if Defendant’s claimis treated as a Section
1983 claim it is entitled to summary judgnent because Plaintiff

cannot establish that he was discrimnated against in accordance

17



with any policy, customor practice of PGN PGWN as a nunicipa
agency, cannot be held |iable under Section 1983 “solely because
it enploys a tortfeasor—or, in other words, a nunicipality cannot
be held liable under 8 1983 on a respondeat superior theory.”

Monell v. New York City Dept. of Social Services, 436 U.S. 658,

691 (1978) (enphasis in original). The Supreme Court concluded in
Monel | that:

a local governnment may not be sued under 8§
1983 for an injury inflicted solely by its
enpl oyees or agents. Instead, it is when
execution of a governnent's policy or custom
whet her made by its |awmkers or by those
whose edicts or acts may fairly be said to
represent official policy, inflictstheinjury
that the governnent as an entity is
responsi bl e under 8§ 1983.

ld. at 694. A governnent’s policy is established when “a
“deci si onnaker possess[ing] final authority to establish munici pal
policy wth respect to the action’ issues an official

procl amation, policy, or edict.” Andrews v. Cty of Phil adel phia,

895 F.2d 1469, 1480 (3d Gr. 1990) (quoting Penbaur v. Gty of

C ncinnati, 475 U S. 469, 481 (1986)). A course of conduct

becomes a custom when “though not authorized by law, ‘such
practices of state officials [are] so permanent and well|l settled
as to virtually constitute law.” Id. (quoting Monell, 436 U.S.
at 690). It is the plaintiff’s burden to show that “a policymaker
i's responsi ble either for the policy or, through acqui escence, for

the custom” ld. A policymaker is an official wth “final

18



unrevi ewabl e discretion to make a decision or take an action.”

ld. at 1481 (citing Gty of St. Louis v. Praprotnik, 485 U S 112,

142 (1988)). Even high ranking officials are not policynmakers
for purposes of Section 1983 if their decisions are constrai ned by
policies put into place by others, or if their decisions are
revi ewabl e:

When an official's discretionary deci sions are
constrai ned by policies not of that official's
maki ng, those policies, rather than the
subordinate's departures from them are the
act of the nunicipality. Simlarly when a
subordi nate's decision is subject to review by
the nmunicipality's authorized policynmakers,
they have retained the authority to neasure
the official's conduct for conformance wth
their policies.

Praprotnik, 485 U S. at 127 (enphasis in original); see also

Vassallo v. Timmoney, No. Cv. A 00-84, 2001 W 1243517, at * 8

(E.D. Pa. Cct. 1, 2001) (noting that even a high ranking official
“Is not afinal policymaker if his decisions are subject to review

and revision.”) (citing Morro v. Gty of Birmngham 117 F. 3d 508,

510 (11th Gr. 1997), cert. denied, 523 U S. 1020(1998)).

PGW argues that there is no evidence that Sullivan, or any
one el se enployed by PGWN acted pursuant to a policy, custom or
practice that was anything other than neutral on its face with
respect to PGWs treatnment of Plaintiff. Plaintiff does not
contend that he was discrimnated against pursuant to a
di scrimnatory policy or customof PGN He argues, however, that

“Sullivan, D Attilio and Lewi s, the principal actors involved in
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M. Valentin's termnation and enpl oynent history at defendant,
are all high-ranking policymaking officials of defendant.” (Pl’s
Mem at 23.) He maintains, therefore, that their actions can be
construed as the actions of PGWand as setting official municipal

policy pursuant to Penbaur v. Gty of G ncinnati, 475 U S. 469

(1986) .

I n Penbaur, the Suprene Court recognized that a nunicipality
may be liable for a single decision to take unlawful action nmade
by a municipal policymker under Section 1983 “where--and only
where--a deliberate choice to follow a course of action is nmade
from anong various alternatives by the official or officials
responsi ble for establishing final policy with respect to the
subject matter in question.” 475 U S. at 483 (citing Okl ahoma

Gty v. Tuttle, 471 U S. 808, 823 (1985)). Plaintiff maintains

that Lewis, Sullivan and D Attilio are policymaking officials of
PGW whose actions can subject PGNto nunicipal liability because
they had conplete discretion with respect to their conduct toward
Plaintiff in connection wth the requests made for Plaintiff’s
nmedi cal records, the investigations of Plaintiff’s residency, and
Plaintiff’s term nation. Plaintiff does not assert that these
i ndi vidual s have full discretion with respect to PGNs deni al of
Plaintiff’s worker’s conpensation benefits, PGNs viol ation of the
20 day rule, or PGWNs refusal to reinstate Plaintiff after his

term nati on. Consequently, Defendant’s Mdtion is granted with
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respect to these allegations of discrimnation.

Plaintiff contends that Lewis had full discretion to order a
residency investigation of Plaintiff. Plaintiff has submtted
evi dence that Lewi s had discretion to order surveillance in direct
rel ation to workers’ conpensation clainms. (Ferrer dep. at 21-22.)
However, Plaintiff has submtted no evidence that Lew s has
unfettered authority to order surveillance of PGWenpl oyees, that
she has any authority to order residency investigations, or that
she was responsi ble for establishing final policy with respect to
residency investigations.

Plaintiff argues that Sullivan had conplete discretion with
respect to the letters sent to Plaintiff requesting nedical
docunent ati on, ordering residency investigations of Plaintiff, and
termnating Plaintiff. Plaintiff maintains that Sullivan had ful
di scretion to determ ne the discipline which would be applied if
Plaintiff failed to provide the updated nedical docunentation
requested by the EUC. However the record on this Mtion shows
ot herw se. The letters sent by Sullivan concerning the EUC s
request that Plaintiff provide updated nedical records were not
sent by Sullivan in his full discretion, but at the request of the
EUC, in accordance with the practice of the EUC of threatening
termnation if an enployee did not conply with a request for
records. (Stewart Dep. at 44-49, Stewart Aff. {7 8-10). M Ann

Stewart, the Chairperson of the EUC, explained the EUC s practice
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as foll ows:
8. There are two letters that the EUC
requests nanagers to send to enpl oyees
who request or are currently working in
| ight duty assignnents or are on long -
termsick |eave — nore than thirty (30)
days.
9. The first letter is a request to provide
updated nedi cal information to PGNw th
[sic] ten days.
10. The second letter, which is sent if the
enpl oyee does not respond to the first
letter, states that the enployee will be
termnated if the requested information
is not provided in ten days.
(Stewart Aff. 7 8-10.) Plaintiff has submtted no evi dence that
Sullivan had the conplete discretion to order a residency
i nvestigation of Plaintiff. The evidence submtted by Plaintiff
shows that, in order to obtain a residency investigation of
Plaintiff, Sullivan would have to nake a request for such an
investigation to D Attilio or John Straub. (Ferrer Dep. at 22-
24.) The evidence on the record of this Mtion also does not
support Plaintiff’s claimthat Sullivan had conpl ete discretion to
order Plaintiff’'s termnation. Plaintiff has submtted no
evidence that Sullivan had unfettered discretion to termnate
enpl oyees. Sullivan testified at his deposition that he did not
have t he unconstrai ned discretionto fire Plaintiff. He testified
that he participated in the decision, but that the recomrendati on

that Plaintiff be fired cane fromthe ri sk manager’s office at PGW

and that the ultimate call belonged to D Attilio. (Sullivan Dep.
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at 32.) There is also no evidence that Sullivan is responsible
for establishing final policies for PGNwith respect to letters
requesting nedical docunentation, enployee discipline if the
request ed docunentation i s not provided, enpl oyee surveill ance, or
enpl oyee term nati on.

Plaintiff contends that D Attilio had conplete discretionto
order residency investigations of Plaintiff. There is evidence on
the record that D Attilio could order a residency investigation of
a PGW enpl oyee. (Ferrer Dep. at 20.) However, Plaintiff has
submtted no evidence that D Attilio’ s authority was not subject
to review or that his authority was unconstrained by PGWNSs
enpl oynent and personnel policies. Plaintiff also contends that
D Attilio had the unfettered discretion to termnate Plaintiff.
There is evidence on the record that D Attilio had authority to
term nate PGW enpl oyees. (Sullivan Dep. at 32.) However, the
evi dence al so shows that D Attilio exercised this discretion in
accordance with his understanding of the manner in which PGWNs
sick |l eave policy had been enforced during his entire tenure at
PGN (D Attilio Dep. at 56-57.) The record also shows that
Sullivan’s and D Attilio’ s decision making authority with respect
to the term nation of enpl oyees was constrained by PGNs witten
policies with respect to sick leave (Pl."’s Ex. 21); PGNs witten
corporate discipline policy (Pl.’s Ex. 24); PGNs witten

personnel policy (Pl.’s Ex. 25); and the collective bargaining
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agreenent between PGW and Plaintiff’'s union (Pl.’s Ex. 28.)
Moreover, there is no evidence on the record that D Attilio’'s
authority to term nate PGW enpl oyees was not subject to review or
that he had final authority to establish final policy with respect
to either residency investigations or the term nation of enpl oyees
of PGW

The Court finds that Plaintiff has failed to neet his burden
of setting forth specific facts which would establish that Lew s,
Sullivan, or D Attilio were policynmakers with respect to any of
the actions they took vis a vis Plaintiff. Consequently, the
Court finds that there is no genuine issue of material fact with
respect to Plaintiff’s claim to have been subjected to race
discrimnation in accordance with a policy, customor practice of
PGWNW Plaintiff has not, therefore, satisfied the requirenments of
Monel | and Defendant’s Mtion for Sunmary Judgnent is granted.*?

C. Request to File Amended Conpl ai nt

Plaintiff asked the Court, in his “Sur Reply Menorandum of
Law in Opposition to Defendant’s Mdtion for Summary Judgnment” for

| eave to anmend the Conplaint to assert a new claim for post-

“Since the Court grants Defendant’s Mtion for Summary
Judgnent based upon Plaintiff’s failure to establish the existence
of a genuine issue of material fact regarding his claimthat he was
subjected to race discrimnation in enploynent according to a
policy, custom or practice of PGN the Court need not reach
Defendant’s argunent that it is entitled to sunmary judgnment
because Plaintiff has not net the requirenents for a disparate
treatnment clai mpursuant to McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Geen, 411
U S 792 (1973).
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termnation discrimnation. Plaintiff seeks to allege a
retaliation claimbased on PGNs refusal to rehire himafter he
was term nated for sick |eave fraud. Plaintiff states that he
filed a discrimnation conplaint against Defendant with the
Phi | adel phi a Conm ssion on Hunman Rel ations (“PCHR’) on February
20, 2002 and PGWNdeni ed Valentin's grievance of his term nation on
May 9, 2002. (Pl.’s Sur Reply at 7.) Plaintiff states that other
enpl oyees, nanely Edgardo Valentin and Stephanie Burgess, were
rehired after an arbitrator ordered their return to work.

The Federal Rules of G vil Procedure provide that, after a
responsi ve pl eading has been filed, “a party may anend the party’s
pl eading only by |eave of court or by witten consent of the
adverse party.” Fed. R Cv. P. 15(a). Rule 15 further provides
that “l eave shall be freely given when justice so requires.” Fed.
R Cv. P. 15(a). Decisions on notions to anend are conmtted to

t he sound discretion of the district court. Gay v. Petsock, 917

F.2d 768, 772 (3d Cr. 1990). However, courts liberally allow
anendnents when "justice so requires,” and when the non-noving
party is not prejudiced by the allowance of the anmendnent.

Kat zennoyer v. City of Reading, 158 F. Supp. 2d 491, 497 (E. D. Pa.

2001) (citing Thomas v. State Farmlns. Co., No. Cv. A 99-268,

1999 W 1018279, at *3 (E.D. Pa. Nov. 5, 1999)). An applicant
seeking | eave to anend a pleading has the burden of show ng that

justice requires the anendnent. ld. The United States Suprene
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Court has determ ned that | eave to anend should be granted in “the
absence of any apparent or declared reason--such as [1] undue
delay, [2] bad faith or dilatory notive on the part of the novant,
[3] repeated failure to cure deficiencies by anendnents previously
al l owed, [4] undue prejudice to the opposing party by virtue of
al | onance of the anendnent, [5] futility of the amendnent, etc.”

Foman v. Davis, 371 U S. 178, 182 (1962).

The Third Grcuit has explained “that prejudice to the
non-nmoving party is the touchstone for the denial of the

amendnent.” Cornell & Co. v. Cccupational Safety and Health Rev.

Commin, 573 F.2d 820, 823 (3d GCr. 1978). Such prejudice exists
“if the amendnent substantially changes the theory on which the
case has been proceeding and is proposed | ate enough so that the
opponent would be required to engage in significant new

preparation.” Rehabilitation Inst. v. Equitable Life Assur. Soc.

of the U.S., 131 F.R D. 99, 102 (WD. Pa. 1992) (citing Wight, et

al., 6 Federal Practice and Procedure 8§ 1487 (1990)); see also

Ni esse v. Shalala, 17 F.3d 264, 266 (8th Cr. 1994) (refusing to

find the district court abused its discretion in denying a request
to anmend where it “was correct in noting that considerable
addi tional discovery would be required to deal with the question

of class certification”); Berger v. Edgewater Steel Co., 911 F. 2d

911, 924 (3d Gr. 1990) (affirmng district court's denial of

notion for | eave to anmend where “al |l ow ng t he anendnent here woul d
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I nject new issues into the case requiring extensive discovery”);

Cuffy v. CGetty Ref. & Mtg. Co., 648 F. Supp. 802, 806 (D. Del

1986) (noting that “the general presunption in favor of allow ng
amendnent can be overcone only by the opposing party show ng that
the amendnent will be prejudicial”).

Plaintiff’s request for leave to file an anended conpl ai nt
asserting a new cause of action under a new | egal theory was nade
on March 24, 2004, after the cl ose of discovery, after Defendant’s
Motion for Summary Judgnent was fully briefed, after the parties
submtted their pre-trial nmenoranda, and a nere twel ve days prior
to the scheduled trial of this lawsuit on April 5, 2004.
Moreover, Plaintiff’'s newtheory is based on facts of which he was
aware well before the close of discovery in this case. Hi s
grievance was denied nearly two years ago, the arbitrator’s
decision in Ms. Burgess’ case was issued eleven nonths ago, and
the arbitrator’s decisionin Plaintiff’s brother’s case was i ssued
nore than four nonths ago. The Court finds that Plaintiff has
unduly delayed noving to anmend his Conplaint and that the
anendnent, asserting a new claim under a new |egal theory |ess
than two weeks prior to the scheduled trial of this action, would
be unduly prejudicial to Defendant. Accordingly, Plaintiff’s
request to file an anmended conpl aint asserting a cause of action
for retaliation is denied.

An appropriate order follows.
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I N THE UNI TED STATES DI STRI CT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DI STRI CT OF PENNSYLVAN A

KENNY R. VALENTI N : CIVIL ACTI ON
V.

PH LADELPHI A GAS WORKS, ET AL. NO 03-3833

ORDER

AND NOW this 29th day of March, 2004, in consideration of
Def endant’s Mdtion for Summary Judgnent (Docket No. 28), the
papers filed in support thereof, Plaintiff’s response thereto, and
the oral argunment held on the Mtion on March 24, 2004, IT IS
HEREBY ORDERED that the Motion GRANTED. It is further ORDERED
that JUDGQVENT is ENTERED on behalf of Defendant and against
Plaintiff. The Cderk of Court shall CLOSE this case for

statistical purposes.

BY THE COURT:

John R Padova, J.



